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THIS BRIEF HISTORICAL SKETCH OF POONA
AND ITS NEIGHBOURHOOD 1S RESPECTFULLY
DEDICATED TO THEIR EXCELLENCIES LORD
AND LADY: WILLINGDON, W}'IOSE INTEREST
IN THE SUBJECT HAS ENCOURAGED THE
AUTHOR IN HIS HUMBLE EFFORTS TO
AROUSE A .LIKE FEELING AMONG OTHER
SOJOURNERS IN THIS PART OF THE DECCAN



PREFACE

K~NowiNg there must be many others far more
knowledgeable than myself in these miatters of
local history, I venture on this subject with
diffidence in the hope that, though an abler pen
might have made more of it, and in spite of its
possible faults, it may prove of interest to those
whose lives are cast in this historic locality.
L. W. SHAKESPEAR.

Poona,
September 1915.
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- POONA

BRIEF EARLY HISTORY

THE interest of this district of which Poona
is now the chief city is. great, both for those
fond of ancient ' history and for those more
disposed to learn of our own doings in these
parts. It is not intended to go deep into
dynastic matters, but only to touch on the
locality’s earliest days, and then turn to more
modern times; calling up items of interest
which may make their sojourn here, and
perhaps their outings, of greater wvalue to
present-day residents.

In: the far-off past this district was largely
concerned with ‘religion, as evidenced by the
vast number of Buddhist and Hindu temples
and monastic cells carved into the solid rock,
attesting wonderful trouble and patiénce - of
those old-time peoples, also, it may be supposed,
unlimited labour; from which we may infer
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POONA AND ITS. BATTLEFIELDS

it was well populated. We find evidences of
old trade routes leading from the seaports of
those days, Kalyan and Sopara, into the centre
of India as existing in the second .century s.c.
Such evidences are inscriptions cut into the
rock at some of these temples, and others
which may be seen at the two most notable
early Passes, viz. Malsej and Nana, leading
down from the plateau through the Ghats to
the Konkan below, and which lie a little west
of Junnar, fifty odd miles north of Poona, the
oldest city in this part of the Deccan. That
the Bhor Ghat was also largely used in those
days by traders is shown by groups of cave-
temples in its vicinity, also what were rest-
chambers and water-cisterns for the comfort
of the travellers, cut out of the solid rock.
Although Poona is not actually mentioned
in those early days, trade must have passed
through its neighbourhood from these Passes;
and as several routes met about here going
from the Bombay side towards Hyderabad,
and from the.old Hindu Chalukyan capital
of Vijyanagar (near Bellary) north towards
Malwa, we can assume it was due to this that
a small village gradually sprang into import-
ance. The earliest accounts which show a
settled organized community in these parts
2
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are those dealing with the ancient Andhra
kingdom (Dravidian), which, starting a little
north of Nellore on the Madras coast, con-
solidated itself and spread west over the whole
area comprised between the Godiveri and
Kistna rivers. In_Asoka’s edicts of 256 B.c.
this kingdom is alluded to as being subject to
his imperial commands, but enjoying a con-
siderable amount of autonomy under its own
kings. It is said it owned 30 walled towns
(names not given), and had an army of 100,000
foot, 80,000 cavalry, and 1000 elephants. If
that was so, it is not to be wondered that, on
Asoka’s death, the Andhra dynasty extended
its sway beyond Nasik even to Sopara, the
seaport of greatest importance then on this
part of the west coast, and lying some twenty
miles north of Bombay. This dynasty came
to an end during the early part of the second
century A.p., after an existence of four and a
half centuries as a power, according to the
testimony -of the lists in the Matsya Puranas
or dynastic lists of the fifth century B.c.

To the Andhras are ascribed the marvellous
rock-cut religious works so plentifully found
in the hills from Nasik to Poona, as well as
those on Elephanta Island, Bombay, and the
inscriptions found at Sopara—all testifying to

3



POONA AND ITS BATTLEFIELDS

the depth of Buddhist and Brahminical Hindu-
ism in their earlier and purer stages. That
they were a literate people is shown by their
knowledge of Prakrit, an earlier form of the
Pali writing, in which they carved their in-
scriptions into the living rock, sometimes
recording events, sometimes matter for public
instruction—in which latter case we find these
placed in suitable positions on highways or at
frequented places of pilgrimage. Silver coins
of the later Andhra kings have been found at
Sopara and Jinnar, and the first foreigner to
record his visit to these parts is the Chinese
traveller, Fahien, about A.n. 405, who speaks
of the people as being * capable, industrious,
and sincere observers of the Laws of Piety.”
It is surmised that some of the larger hill-
fortresses were built in those far-off days,
particularly Purandhar and Singarh near Poona
and Shivner near Jinnar, which latter saw
the birth of Sivaji, the real founder of Maharatta
power and state. |
From about A.p. 280 to A.D. 500 no specific
information is found concerning this locality ;
but there is reason to believe that the western
or Poona portion was ruled by the Ratta or
Reddi clan, which in the middle of the eighth
century became sufficiently powerful as to be
4
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styled ‘ Maharasthra,” or country of the
greater Rattas, from whence the present namie
Maharatta. One tradition says these Reddis
came originally from the Canara country, and
were the best fighting folk in the Carnatic;
another gives them a northern origin.

The end of the thirteenth century saw
the Mohamedans moving south from Delhi to
crush the Yadav power which had latterly
arisen. These people built the stupendous
hill-fortress of Deoghir (now Daulatabad) near
Aurangabad. Ferishta, in his Moghul history,
records how “ numbers of the men of Abu
Suba’s (Gujerati) force, when halted in the
neighbourhood, went off to visit a remarkable’
and famous fortified mountain called Deoghir,
which city was near at hand.” This is about
the earliest notice we have of Deoghir, and
from Buddhist.remains on the citadel hill its
importance was evidently of great antiquity as
a place of religion and residence. The Deccan
was invaded, but it took thirty-five years of
war to crush the Yadavs, and the first record
of stirring interest in the vicinity of our Poona
is noted by the same historian Ferishta in 1340,
when Mahomed Tuglak of Delhi, having'settl.ed
his new capital at Daulatabad, sent a large
force against Khondana (the present Singarh),

5
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15 miles south of Poona. This shows that
Singarh must have been a place’ of consider-
able importance in those days to warrant such
action against it. It is recorded this fortress
was defended with great bravery, and Mahomed
after several fruitless assaults had to blockade
the place, which after eight months brought
about the capitulation of the Ratta Chief.

The end of the next century we hear of the
forts of Singarh and Lohgarh near Lonauli being
again besieged and taken by the Mahomedans,
as the revolting Maharattas had seized and
garrisoned them; but it is not till 1604
that, according to Grant Duff, we hear of
"Poona actually, and then only as a pergunna
which with that of Chikun, 21 miles out on the
Nasik road, was made over by the Ahmednagar
court to Malloji Bhonsla, the grandfather of
Sivaji. About 1637 Malloji’'s son Shahji first
made his residence in Poona village, becoming
a wealthy man on being rewarded by the
Mahomedans for services in the Carnatic, by
an extension of his jaghir to include the hill
country south. of Poona and known as the
“Mawuls.” By the time his son the famous
Sivaji was able to begin his offensive actions
against the hated Mahomedan, Poona had in-
creased, and contained buildings of sufficient

6
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strength for defence, although it was never a
walled and fortified town. Another Moghul his-
torian, Khafi Khan, speaks of it in Aurungzeb’s
day as “situated on a treeless plain ”—very
different from its present well-wooded state.
Sivaji’s life was, however, chiefly spent at
Satara, or else on expeditions or amongst his
favourite hill-forts Torna and Raigarh, west
of Singarh, both of which he built.

It may be stated here that the first time
English troops came into touch at all with the
Maharattas was in a friendly way in the middle
of the eighteenth century, when both Govern-
ments combined in efforts to rid themselves
of the presence of Toolaji Angria, the notorious
sea pirate, whose depredations along the coast,
and even sometimes inland, had become in-
tolerable, and trade suffered. The Maharattas
hunted Angria’s people on land, while we, for
the time being, overcame them on the sea.
Their final overthrow was at Geriah on the
Konkan coast, a stronghold besieged by Admiral
Watson and Colonel Clive-with a fleet, together
with a Maharatta force on land. After a
stubborn defence the place fell, and ended the
days of the pirates of the west coast.! It was

1 The booty which fell to the English was most extensive, in-
cluding £130,000 worth of gold, silver, and jewels ; and it was here

7
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this success in 1755 which really raised the
English to political importance in this part of
India.

Sivéji, the founder of Maharatta power and
contemporary of Mr. Aungier our first Governor
of Bombay in 1669, is usually spoken of as
a swashbuckler and murderer; but, however
true this may be to a certain extent, he had
characteristics which lift him out of that
category. Besides being a first-rate rider,
'swordsman,. and marksman, he was noted for
great filial affection and for remarkable con-
sideration and respect towards women. TUnlike
his decadent successors, however, he would
never allow a woman in or near his camps when
he and his army took the field; and it used
then to be said of him that he would rather
hear the neighing of his enemies’ horses than
a woman’s voice. Historians tell of the great
fascination he possessed over women, and
certainly the rather pathetic story of Zaib
ul Nissa, daughter of the Emperor Aurangzeb
and Sivaji’s inveterate enemy, seems to uphold
the fact. Nissa saw him when a prisoner in

that Clive, although a poor man then, to show his disinterestedness
in money, and to help a brother officer in need, gave up his share
of the prize-money (£1000),—thus early, as it wete, justifying his
boast years after as to_his amazing moderation when praetically
the treasures of Bengal were at his command.

8
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Delhi and fell in love with him. Later during
a short period of comparative peace, Aurangzeb
did offer his daughter in marriage with a view
to cementing friendship, but Sivaji declined,
as he would not turn from his own religion to
marry her. Nissa never married,.and followed
her father about the Deccan in hopes of a
meeting with Sivaji which never came off.
After the great Maharatta’s death Aurangzeb’s
forces succeeded in storming the fortress of
Raigarh, when amongst the prisoners captured
was Sivaji’s little grandson Shahoo. Nissa
immediately took charge of the child and
brought him up. . She died at Brahmapiri on
the Bhima river and was buried at Begumpur,
24 miles from Sholapore, where the -Emperor
raised a large mausoleum to her memory.
Elphinstone says of Sivaji that * he left behind
him a name and character such as has never
been equalled or approached by any of his
countrymen.” So that, in spite of the general
opinion.as to his being a swashbuckler, bully,
and murderer, there must have been a consider-
able amount of good in him.

Aurangzeb spent nearly twenty years in
the Deccan trying hard to subdue the *“ moun-
tain rat,” as he called Sivaji, and failed.
According to the Moghul historian Khifi Khan,

9
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the Emperor said this of him, that ‘ he was
a great Captain, and the only one who has been
able to raise a new kingdom while I have been
trying to destroy the ancient sovereignties in
India. My forces have been employed against
him for nineteen years, nevertheless his State
has increased.”

Sivaji was singularly tolerant of religions
other than his own, mosques and the Koridn
were never violated, and no one ever suffered
death at his hands owing to their difference
in religion. Compare this with what was
going on in Europe at that period! All the
same he was a past master in the art of duplicity,
and his ruling passion was a love of amassing
money. His famous sword ‘ Bhowani,” a
fine Genoese blade inherited by one of his
descendants the Raja of Kholapore, was pre-
sented by this noble to the Prince of Wales
on his visit to India in 1874.

Sivaji’s coronation and marriage took place
at his favourite hill-fortress of Raigarh in the
Konkan District, west of the Syhadri range
and about three marches from Poona, in June
1674, and it was attended by a British Embassy
from Bombay under Henry Oxenden, brother
of Sir George Oxenden, Governor of Surat.
This seems to be the first friendly visit on a

10
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large scale to the Maharatta Court, and Oxenden
has left a vivid description of his journey
there—the fatiguing climb, the heat just before
the rains broke, the glorious views, the massive
buildings and defences, and the magnificent
ceremonies. Raigarh seems much connected
with the life of the great Maharatta Chief: he
built it and had to fight hard several times
for its retention; it was from here he set out
with 70,000 of his best troops on his memor-
. able expedition to the Carnatic, where he levied
tribute up to Madras; while his mother died
here and so did he; being buried, Douglas tells
us, amidst a holocaust of wives, elephants,
and camels. His mausoleum stood there for
numberless years neglected, covered with weeds
and jungle growths, even the sacred Nandi in
front of it having been allowed to topple over,
until about 1885 when it was restored by
Lord Reay. Raigarh was almost the last
fort to fall to British troops after the overthrow
of Bhaji Rao, last of the Peishwas and a
descendant of Sivaji; and when Colonel Pro-
thero’s troops entered after bombarding the
place in June 1818 and setting its buildings
on fire, a native lady was found crouching in
terror and despair alone amongst the embers
of the conflagration. This was the favourite
11
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wife of Bhaji Rao, sent there for safety during
the war. Her husband had already been sent
a prisoner to Northern India, so it may be said
that with her at Raigarh Maharatta power
and influence vanished for ever; and rather
calls to mind thé engraving on a coin of the
Emperor Vespasian—a woman sitting low in
the dust under a palm-tree, and closing one of
the last chapters of ancient history.

From Sivaji’s day to that of the Peishwa,
Ballaji Bhaji Rao, in whose time, about 1750,
Poona, now greatly increased in size and
importance, was acknowledged as the Maha-
ratta capital, .and who, it is said, planted a
million mango trees in and about the town to
beautify it, there is not much to concern us.
The times were full of trouble and fighting
for the Maharattas and Moghuls, which we
pass over until 1755, when the success of the
English and Maharatta combination against
the celebrated sea pirate Angria, already men-
tioned, led to a visit to Poona of two members
of the Bombay Council, Messrs. Spencer and
Byfield. These interviewed the Peishwa on
the subject of his desire to.obtain the services
of a body of English troops, which came to
nothing until a few years later, when the
English Government agreed to a brigade. being

12
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located at Poona to assist the last Peishwa
Bhaji Rao and keep him in power. In 1772 a
Mr. Maostyn was definitely appointed Resident
at the Court of Poona, and English troops
numbering 3000 men were located there and
took part in various actions as far south as
Dharwar, under Colonels Frederick, Little,
and others. These were later returned to
Bombay owing to unsatisfactory dealings on
the part of the Peishwa ; but the Brigade was
again sent to Poona later, when it was camped
west of the Sangum, where the old Resxdency
stood, until lines and houses were arranged for
them on the ground in the vicinity of the
present St. Paul’s Church.

This brings us to a period when Poona
began to possess a personal interest for the
English, and in order the better to describe
its history from now on, to touch on the many
events of a stirring nature, and to make our
outings more interesting, it would seem easiest
to do so as if in a series of rides. So let us
start our first outing from the great social
centre, the Gymkhana Club, and proceed to-
wards Ganeshkhind..- Few, perhaps, know that
in passing the Poana Hotel they enter the area
covered from about 1780 to 1817 by the first
Cantonment occypied by us with our Sub-

13
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stdiary Force, paid for by the Peishwa for his
protection, and a set-off to French intrigues
and growing influence. For those who do
not know, I may explain that the Peishwa was
the Prime Minister of the Maharatta Court
in this part of the Deccan; the Raja residing
at Satara sank about 1714 into a religious or
spiritual head, while the Peishwa wielded all
temporal power. Ballaji Vishwanath was the
first to usurp this power, which was kept by
his successors until the English obtained the
upper hand. The same procedure of dual
rule is still to be seen in Nepal, where the
Maharaja Adiraj lives in religious seclusion,
all affairs of state and war being attended to by
the Prime Minister who is also Commander-in-
Chief.

This old Cantonment extended roughly from
the present Collector’s Office to the Poona
Hotel, and for some little distance south of
the Jewish Synagogue, and at that time
between these lines and the city, was a con-
siderable stretch of open country, fields, and
gardens. As we pass along the road from
St. Paul’s Church to the Sassoon Hospital a
few of the old houses occupied by English
officials in those long-past days can still be
seen, built internally on a different scale from

14 ’
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what we are accustomed to nowadays. The
first English Cemetery is to be seen in a walled
enclosure on the right of the road just before
reaching the Bombay Bank, opposite which
stood until July 1915 an old crumbling masonry

p——

One of the old Houses of the ** Garpir” Cantonment, now used as a
home and playground for students of the Byramji School of
Medicine. '

sentry-box, such as were in those days dotted,
along the outskirts of military lines. This

Cantonment was known as * Garpir,” from

the shrine to an old Mohamedan saint which .
is on the ground owned by the Bombay Bank,

standing under trees to the left of the road,

and almost opﬁosite the old Cemetery.

: 15
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It was in these lines that our troops stood
to arms during the finale of the battle of
Harapsa between Jeswant Rao Holkar, and
Scindia and Bhaji Rao’s combined forces —
Scindia’s beaten troops being pursued round
the Cahtonment, which was, however, not

Earliest English Cemetery near St. Paul’s Church.

molested, the British flag being respected by
both belligerents. The English were not con-
cerned in this affair owing to a new treaty
which had not been completed, and owing also
to the -Peishwa’s, recent disregard of the first
treaty. It was from this Cantonment that .
Mr. Elphinstone in November 1817 withdrew
our troops to camp on the open ground round
16
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Kirkee village just before Bhaji Rao turned
his army against us, as that ground was more
favourable for defence than these lines, sur-
rounded as they were by fields, gardens, and
hedges. The moment these lines were vacated,
the Maharattas pillaged and burnt the place,

Last of the Masonry Sentry-boxes of the old Garpir Cantonment.

together with the Residency vacated by Mr.
Elphinstone and Staff. The two curious old
stone pillars,” one -in the Post Office com-
pound -and one in the open space .near St.
Paul’s Church, are said to be the last of the
stone posts to which the elephants were- tied,
and probably mark where the Transport
Lines then were. Another idea is that they
17 c
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are the north and south stones to which
the ropes of the Residency flag-staff were
attached, the east and west ones having
disappeared when the roadway was made past
St. Paul’s Church. Whichever they are really,
it is known in early days that there was an
elephant standing, and old Parsi residents
declare the Duke of Wellington’s animals were
fethered on this spot.

Arriving in our ride at the Mitha river
and Sangam, and crossing the bridge, we are
on the site of the first Residency built about
early 1775 for Mr. Mostyn, the first British
Envoy deputed to the Peishwa’s Court by
the Bombay Government. There is 4 rather
good old-time coloured picture in the Western
India Club by Henry Salt, showing the Sangam,
or junction of the Mitha and Miila rivers, the
City, and the Parbatti hill beyond, and the
old-time Residency with the white flag and
the red cross of St. George floating over it
in the year 1809. It gives a good idea of what
the river must have looked like before the big
Bund was thrown across it lower down in the
early “ “thirties,” and also of.the extent of the
city at that time. _

J. Douglas tells us that in Sir Charles Malet’s
day, the Resident in Poona 1785-91, the

18
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Residency was the pleasantest abode in India.
Sir Charles built aqueducts, planted vines,
apple- and peach-trees, kept a stud of Arab
horses, and a number of elephants, in fact
lived in a style suitable to the rank and dignity
of the great nation he represented; and Lord
Valentia who travelled in India supports this
statement. He visited Poona in October 1804,
and has left a very interesting record of his
stay at the old Sangam Residency, his cere-
monial visit to Bhaji Rao at the Shanawari
Palace in the city in company with Colonel
Close, and the great Dasera. festival that month.
He also visited the Peishwa at the Hira Bagh
country house, of which he writes with pleasure
as to its lovely situation, the view of Parbatti
-hill seen across the now dry lake, and the
beauty of the extensive garden with noble trees,
fountains, and vine pergolas. Lord Valentia,
on his way back from Poona; seems to have
had’an interview with the young widow of Nana
Farnavis, and corroborates the tale of her beauty
which General Wellesley found so remarkable.
The first Sangam Residency built for Mr.
Mostyn was burnt down, and Sir Charles Malet,
who rebuilt it, had, while this was beiﬁg done,
to live in the city, camping during the hot-
weather months on the banks of the Matha river.
19 .
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It was at this Residency that Mr. Elphin-
stone spent the last few anxious days, know-
ing of Bhaji Rao’s duplicity and seeing the
Maharatta soldiery crowding in small camps
all round our Cantonment ready at any moment
to break out, while he kept the troops in hand,
though continually under arms, as he was
unwilling to take any overt action himself
which might precipitate matters and upset
calculations and intentions of Government in
other parts of India (chiefly Central). Only
when the situation became hopeless and Bhaji
Rao’s armed strength had so increased, did
he withdraw, notifying the Peishwa that his
conduct could only. have one ending—War.
It is said there was a wooden bridge over the
Sangam here; this may have been built after
1809, for Salt’s picture shows only a ford.

Leaying the Sangam en route to Ganeshkhind’
we pass the plain just beyond the cross roads
to the city and between the main road and the
Bambiirda hills, which was generally the site
of the ceremonial camps when native notables
visited the Maharatta court. Sir Charles Malet
has left a description of Mahadaji Scindia’s
celebfated visit to Poona to invest the Peishwa
in 1792 with a certain dignity and rank con-
ferred by the Emperor of Delhi. Scindia’s

20
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camp covered the Bambiirda plain almost to
Kirkee, and was a scene of gréat magnificence,
splendid ceremonies, and festivities, to all of
which the Resident and his friends were
welcomed. This plain was connected with the
city and Parbatti Hill and Palace by the
Lukdi bridge, a big wooden structure replaced
in 1847 by the present stone bridge.

A short distance up the hillside facing us
to the left, and behind the Ferguson College,
are the Bambiirda rock-cut cave-temples, small,
plain, but curious, of uncertain date, believed
to belong to the first century B.c., and dedi-
cated to Shiva. Behind the hostel of the
Engineering College some 300 yards from the
main road is to be seen a very remarkable
Shivaite temple, that of Panchleshwar, cut
into a large outcrop of black rock on the plain,
and so lying below the ground surface and
easily overlooked. It is a large area cut down
some thirteen or fourteen feet, so as to leave
a great circular block standing in the centre.
This again has been hollowed out, leaving a
number of square pillars supporting a mush-
room-like top in the centre of which stands the
sacred Nandi. To the left a very deep cistern
with a flight of steps down is excavated, and
beyond into the rock is cut the large hall
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77 feet by 74 feet and 10} feet high, contain-
ing the shrines of the five Hindu gods—Samba,
Ambika, Vitoba, Rakhmai, and Ganpati—seen
through a vista of thirty pillars, which were left
to support the roof in carving out the living
rock. The * pujaris” tell you this curious
temple is 5000 years old, and it is certainly
older than the Bhija cave-temples, as it was
conceived in a period when the simplest work
only could be cut in the rock, requisite tools for
elaborate carving and ornamentation not having
been developed.

It was across the Lukdi bridge and Bam-
birda plain that the Maharatta host streamed
to overwhelm the small British force at Kirkee
—the actual site of the conflict being about
a mile and a quarter to the north of the high
road to Ganeshkhind, and slightly east of the
“ Bullock’s Hump >’ on the present Artillery
drill ground. An old cannon stands on this
open ground nearer the Government House
end. It is said to mark the site of the battle,
but I am inclined to think, from Blacker’s
history and his excellent plan of the field, that
it stands near the right flank, probably where
the Dapuri Brigade chipped in. The English
line stretched away from the old gun south,
and from the Maharatta position, whence
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their guns opened, and the distance they
carried in thdse days, it is reasonable to believe
the battle started as our lines were crossing the
present Kirkee race-course, and that the nullah
a little south of this was the one which broke
the charge of Gokla’s horse.

Beyond the “XKhind > or- Pass, the road
descends to Aundh, and was at one time the
second of the Poona-Bombay highways, the
first having been that via Kalas laid out by
General Wellesley about the spring of 1803
and which joins the present highway three
miles beyond Chinchwad, continuing along
the foot of the hills under Lohgarh fort to
Khandalla, a little west of the present road.
The Aundh or second highway was the old
native route improved by us, but not kept
up long ; it joins the present one a mile beyond
Shelawadi station, Both have long since fallen
into desuetude. ‘

On the formation of the present Cantonment
in 1819, a new Residency was built on the site
of the present Post and Telegraph Offices, where
the Political Agent resided till after the Mutiny,
when Poona became a Commissionership, and
in 1863 the Residency was destroyed by fire,

The first Government House was built by
Sir Bartle Frere in- the early “ ’sixties” at
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Dapuri where the brewery was, and there are
still walks and aqueducts of those days to be
seen in the grounds. The present Government
House, which we know, was completed about
1871. ‘ f
Our second ride will take us towards Kirkee
along the present Bombay high road, passing
the first European cemetery used after the
country came under our rule, and where, in
all likelihood, those who fell on the battlefield -
of Kirkee, no distance off, were buried. This
cemetery stands on the river just behind
Sangam Lodge, and has a memorial stone
dated 1885 let into the wall to the memory of
those Europeans who fell in that action. The
only other inscription remaining is to a Mrs.
Lodwick who died in 1819. And so-on through
the Royal Artillery barracks we reach the
Small Arms Factory, which occupies the site
where the little village of Kirkee stood. From
here we get an extended view of the field of
action of November 5, 1817, which practically
settled the Peishwa and the Maharattas finally
in this part of India. In those days the
ground was more or less open from Kirkee to
the “ Bullock’s Hump,” no huildings and no
cultivation broke the gently sloping stretch of
ground. And here stood the little hamlet
26
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Elphinstoné told Colonel Burr to withdraw to
from the old Cantonment, leaving at first 250
men to guard the Reésidency. It was now
realized that a crisis was at hand, and we might
be attacked at any moment. Bhaji Rao’s
forces had increased, *and, believing his emis-
saries had sufficiently tampered with our
native soldiery, he threw off the mask and
launched his army against us. Qur strength
was then represented by the following :

Some details of Artillery: 2/1st Bombay
Infantry and 2/6th Bombay Infantry (now the
112th and 118th Infantry), 1/7th Bombay In-
fantry, the Dapuri Brigade (weak), two Com-
panies of Bengal N.I. as Resident’s Escort,
and the old Bombay European Regiment,
which had been hurried up from Bombay to
reinforce Colonel Burr on Elphinstone’s urgent
representations. These latter arrived just in
time at Kirkee. The remains of the old
Peishwa’s Subsidiary Force had a few years
before been located in new lines at Dapuri
across the Miila river two miles north-west -of
Kirkee, and was then known as the Dapuri
Brigade commanded by Captain Forde. This
officer, who had been some years in-Poona,
had established considerable friendship and
influence with Bhaji Rao and certain of his
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nobles, notably with Moro Dixit. These had
four light guns with them, while Colonel Burr
had six, and the wholé total British strength
did not amount to more than 2800 men. It is
interesting to note that the Dapuri Brigade
sided faithfully with us, bnly a few going over
to the Maharattas; and this brigade remains
as it were with us still in the 123rd Outram’s
and 125th Napier’s Rifles. On the morning of
the 5th Elphinstone and escort vacated the
Residency just in time, as Vinchorka’s horse-
men swept into the grounds from the city side.
He crossed the Miila ford below his house, and*
again by the old wooden bridge called Holkar’s,
and joined Burr at his camp. At this time,
4 p.M., it was plainly seen the Maharatta hosts
were advancing from Bambirda, and with
offensive action in his mind Burr left one
battalion, namely 2/6th, less its Grenadier
companies and two guns posted at Kirkee, to
guard the camp and to form a rallying point
if necessary. He then moved forward in line
with the other regiments, the Bombay European
Regiment in the centre with the Resident’s
Escort, on the flanks the 1st and 7th Bombay
[nfantry, and two- guns with each. Word was
tso sent to Forde to advance his Brigade
owards Burr’s right flank and so prevent the
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Maharattas, numbers of whom were seen moving
over the nearer hills, from cutting in between
Burr and Forde. After advancing about a
mile, or roughly about where the Royal Field
Artillery Mess now stands, he wheeled a bit
to his right to get more parallel with the hostile
front, and was joined a little farther on by the
Dapuri Brigade, which, while en route, were
charged by a body of cavalry under Moro
Dixit. The Brigade rapidly forming into line
repulsed the charge, and Moro fell, killed, it is
said, by a cannon-shot directed by his friend.
Forde. The force then continued its advance
just across the present racecourse and rail-
way line when the Maharatta guns opened.
Afterwards it was learned Bhaji Rao’s heart
failed at the eleventh hour, and Gokla who
commanded was enjoined on ro account to
 fire the first shot; also while leaving the city
the breaking of the staff of the Juri Patka
(Maharatta saffron-coloured standard) was re-
garded as of ill-omen. Gokla, however, had
opened the ball and continued with rockets,
while he sent strong parties of horse round
both flanks of the English, generally making so
rapid an advance that his infantry were left
behind ; all except a regular battalion under
De Pinto, which, coming by a shorter route,
29-
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suddenly emerged from trees and hedges in
front of the 7th N.I. and began to form steadily.
This was too much for the 7th, who moved
forward to close, and so became detached from
the line. ‘Gokla seeing this sent a huge mass
of 6000 horse headed by himself against them,
and his guns ceased firing as the cavalry came
thundering down across the front against the
7th. These' stood firm, reserving their fire;
and a swampy ravine, into which the leaders
and masses of horsemen fell, Gokla’s horse
being killed under him, broke the charge.!
The 7th had formerly been’Colonel Burr’s own
corps, and he at this critical moment placed
himself with them alongside of their colours.
His two orderlies were shot by his side, his
horse’s head was grazed by a ball, and one
went through his shako. His men now fired
into the disorgapized mass with great effect,
only a few got within touch of the bayonets,
while some galloped round and tried to attack
the 6th at the village. These, however, were
driven off with a few rounds from the guns
stationed there and from a company of Euro-
peans sent to help. The right flank of the
line had meanwhile been charged by some

1 This commander, a most capable, gallant man, had in 1803
fought for us alongside of Wellington at Assaye. He was killed
in the cavalry fight at Ashta in February 1818, ~
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3000 Arabs and Gosains, but the steady
discipline and firing of the Europeans and of
the 1st Bombay Infantry had repulsed them.
At the failure of their great charge the Maha-
rattas, completely disheartened, began driving
off their guns; and Burr’s little line again
pushed forward, clearing the remaining enemy
off. Next day the troops from Serur reached
Kirkee. Bhaji Rao had spent the day at the
Parbatti temple, where the window from which
he watched the distant fight and saw his de-
feated troops break up, is shown'to visitors.
His flight with 4 large force southwards was
the cause of a few other actions by various
columns sent in pursuit. The losses in this
battle were only 86 on our side and some 500
odd on that of the Maharattas. It did not
last long and can hardly rank with some of the
harder-fought actions of that period, but it
had great political results—the Maharatta
power in this part of India was over, and the
country now came directly under the English
Government._ ‘!

The Maharattas treated such English as
fell into their hands with brutality.” Two
cases of this occurred near Poona when officers
were proceeding ta join Colonel Burr’s force
just before the battle of Kirkee. Urulli, a few
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miles east of Harapsa, had been reached by
two officers—Cornets Hunter and Morrison of
1st and 2nd Madras Cavalry respectively—and
an escort of twelve sepoys coming up from
Dharwar, unaware of Maharatta hostility. They
were attacked by a body of the Peishwa’s men,
and seizing a choultry jn the village, defended
themselves in it, by using baggage for barricad-
ing till their ammunition ran out. The Maha-
rattas gained the roof and made holes through
which they shot down most of the sepoys.
The rest were taken prisoners -and hurried off
to Fort Kanguri in the Konkan, and thence
six weeks later to Wassota fort near Satéra,
where our columns eventually released them,
after they had endured much severe treatment
and hardship. .

Captain Vaughan, 15th- Madras Native In-
fantry, and a young brother just joining the
service, who were coming up from Bombay to
Poona at the time, reached Wadgaon village,
where they were made prisoners by a Maharatta
official named Babji Punt Gokla.

The unfortunate young men were treated
most brutally, being forced forward under the
lash as' far as Talegaon, where Babji Punt
eventuallv hanged both on a tree at the Poona
edge of the village, A stone put up later, buit
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now fallen into utter ruin, commemorates the
incident, and Grant Duff tells us this villkin
was eventually caught and imprisoned for
years in a wooden cage up in Singarh fort;
while Colonel R. G. Burton has.given an ac-
count of the death of the Vaughans in one of
his pathetic tales, *“ Graves by the Wayside,”
which appeared in the Pioneer some years
back.

Returning in our ride this day we pass what '
is now called the *“ Bund ” Hill, but earlier
known as * Picquet Hill,” and the bridge by
Yerrowda village. In those days there was
a ford only, slightly below the bridge; and
this was the scene seven days after the fight
at Kirkee of a sharp combat, when Burr’s force
reinforced from Serur moved from Kirkee to
attack the remainder of the Maharatta force,
who were now holding a line with their left
on the destroyed cantonment of * Garpir”
and their right towards Ghorpuri. Burr also
wished to place himself so as to meet the march
of the 4th Division from Ahmednagar and
prevent the Maharattas from intercepting it.
These reached Kirkee on the 13th,” and next
day took place Milne’s combat at Yerrowda
ford. The “Bund” Hill was held by the
Bombay Regiment with a 6-pounder gun and
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efforts were made to get the force across, but
the guns could not be got over as the ford had
been made impassable by the Arabs in the
night. Next day pioneers were set to work
to repair the ford, and the day was passed in
skirmishes with the Maharatta horse. On the’
16th the enemy in masses came down to
oppose the crossing, and after a contest of
some hours Milne’s left wing succeeded in
crossing and establishing themselves with a
few guns on the right bank. Here he had to
ward off further attacks, while the bulk of the
force crossed and forming line drove back the
Maharattas, whose losses were very consider-
able, while ours were 15 killed and 68 wounded.
General Smith .arranged for a general attack
next day, and at daybreak our cavalry moving
forward, found the Maharatta lines vacated—
the enemy having retreated south over the
Bapdeo Ghat to join the flying Peishwa.

Our force was then encamped, one half by
the old *“ Garpir ” Lines, the other beyond the
Sangam on the Bambirda plain commanding
the city. A successful effort was made by a
Captain Turner with four guns, a party of
Irregular Horse, a Light Battalion and Light
Companies of the 65th Foot and Bombay
European Regiment, to overtake a number of
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Maharatta guns which report said were being
taken to Singarh. These were overtaken be-
yond Dénja village at the foot of the hill, when
a short sharp fight enstied, and fourteen pieces
of ordnance, some tumbrils, and other booty
were captured. A few guns not worth bring-
ing away were disabled and the ammunition
destroyed. Perhaps a memory of this bit of
work may lie in the half-buried. old gun lying
now close to the path at the beginning of the
ascent to Singarh fort.

Our third ride we will take close in and ~
around our own Cantonment, and see how that
shaped itself.

After the battle of Kirkee in 1817 and final
overthrow of the Peishwa Bhaji Rao the follow-
ing year saw tranquillity restored in Poona,
and it was no longer necessary for the troops
to live in camp as they had been doing on the,
Kirkee lands since the abandonment of the’
old Cantonment at “ Garpir,” and its destruc-
tion by the Maharattas. To accommodate
them it was necessary to arrange a new Canton-
ment, which led to the formation of the present
Military Station of Poona.

To this end the present locality was decided
on, it then being separated from the city .by
a considerable space of open lands; and the
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grounds of four villages, viz.. Ghorpuri, Mali,
Manjeri, and Wanowri, were acquired, land-
owners being compensated. The original ideca
of locating the first troops here in 1818 "was
based on strategic necessities for guarding
important lines of communication. Thus an
English regiment and Royal Horse Artillery
placed at Wanowri were to guard the com-
munication with Sholapur on one side, and
Satira via the Bapdeo Ghat on the other;
while another English regiment, and later in
1822 a Native cavalry regiment, were placed
at Ghorpuri to guard routes to Ahmednagar.
Native units were located much where they
are at present, except that an Engineer
corps occupied the site now wused as the
. Polo ground behind “ Polo Vista,” until the
early * ’seventies,” their field-works area being
on the far side of the present Korigaon road,
where they- can still be seen. In 1822-23
Cantonment boundaries were defined much as
at present. During 1819 kutcha bungalows
sprang up in the new Cantonment area for the
use of officers, and the present Sadar bazaar
was marked out for camp-followers, tradesmen,
etc. In 1826 the boundaries were slightly
.altered so as to exclude the locality south of
the present Jewish Synagogue which was then
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known as the Civil Lines, where dwelt the
many surveyors and civil officials concerned
with the surveys and administration of the
new Poona district. This was done as the
Governor found many objections to including
the houses of these civilians within Military "
limits. The Garrison Church of St. Mary was
begun in 1820, and remains a monument ex-
ternally of unsightliness beloved of the earlier
Public Works Services. It was similarly re-
amarked on by Bishop Heber, who'visited Poona
in October 1824,

With the gradual settlement of the military
came need for amusement, and the first Race-
course sprang into existence, being laid out as
shown in an old map of 1847 near the river,
roughly following the line of Mangaldas Road
and its continuance along Korigaon Road
towards the river, when it turned to follow the
side road now leading to the Boat-house. As
land and building sites came more into require-
meht this was given up, and in the * *fifties
a second Race-course was laid out round the
ground now occupied by the lines of the
Native Infantry Regiment at Wanowri. The
map of 1856 shows this, and also that a Band-
stand and Afghan trophies stood near the top
of this rising ground, close to where the British
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‘Infantry Barracks north of the road now
stand, and by which we may gather this
Jocality to have been probably at that time
the chief social centre and general meeting-
place. In those days the ground now sur-
‘rounded by the Race-course is shown on all
maps as the General Parade Ground. Kirkee
as a Cantonment sprang into existence about
1824, the first regiment to be located there
being the 4th Light Dragoons; and from an
old record in the Cantonment Magistrates’
Office, in 1845 we find the first official notice
relative to hunting, for hounds were then kept
up by a Major Weston, 14th Light Dragoons,
and were kennelled close to the present Rosher-
ville Boat-house. In the memoirs both of
Elphinstone and of Malet we find that they
also enjoyed hunting, though' it was not till
after théir day that it became a regular institu-
tion. It is from Herbert Compton’s pages
and those of the Oriental Sporting Magazine
1825-85 that we get almost the best informa-
tion relative to hunting in those early days,
and the formation of hunt clubs, Here we
learn that the Poona ‘ Union” Hunt was
looked on as the mother of all such clubs in
India. It was started here shortly after the
country became settled subséquent to our
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becoming masters in this part of the Deccan,
viz. about 1819-20, and was mostly arrived at
by the state of happy affluence in which
officers found themselves, through ample
“batta’ and prize-money. Closely following the
“ Union ” came the short-lived “ Claret > hunt
at Serur, a very select and expehsive community
which, possibly through luxurious tendencies,
did not last long: The Poona * Union” was
apparently started by a well-known character
then, Captain Jefferys, who with one Tom
Morriss later evolved a very special detachment
as it were o